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DATE: October  18,  2018
 

TO: Aimee  Faucett,  Chief of Staff,  Office  of the  Mayor
 

FROM: City  Attorney
 

SUBJECT: San  Diego  Charter  section  23:  Council  Action  on  Qualified  Citizens’  Initiatives

 

INTRODUCTION

 

On  November  8,  2016,  San  Diego  voters  considered  and  approved  a  ballot  measure
labeled  “Measure  L”  to  amend  San  Diego  Charter  (Charter)  section  23  regarding  the  timing  of
elections  for  citizens’  initiative  and  referendum  measures.  This  memorandum  responds  to  your
question  about  Measure  L  and  its  impact.  We  understand  that  this  question  specifically  relates  to
the  pending  “For  A  Better  San  Diego”  initiative  petition.

 
QUESTION  PRESENTED

 

Now  that  voters  have  amended  the  Charter  through  Measure  L,  what  does  the  Charter
require  the  San  Diego  City  Council  (Council)  to  do  when  it  receives  a  qualified  citizens’
initiative  and  considers  its  placement  on  a  ballot?

 

SHORT  ANSWER

 

Generally,  the  Council  must  decide  between  adopting  a  qualified  initiative  measure  or
submitting  it  to  a  citywide  vote.  See  San  Diego  Municipal  Code  (SDMC  or  Municipal  Code)  
§§  27.1034  and  27.1035.  If the  Council  chooses  to  submit  a  measure  to  City  of San  Diego  (City)
voters,  the  Council  must  place  the  measure  on  the  next  regularly  scheduled  general  election
ballot  (held  in  November  of even-numbered  years),  unless  it  chooses  to  send  it  to  an  earlier
ballot.

 
The  “For  A  Better  San  Diego”  initiative  measure  includes  a  tax  increase  proposal  and

thus  cannot  be  adopted  directly  by  the  Council,  but  must  be  submitted  to  voters.  On  October  8,
2018,  the  Council  adopted  a  resolution  of intention  to  send  the  measure  to  the  voters.  The  Office
of the  City  Attorney  will  prepare  an  ordinance  to  place  the  measure  on  the  November  2020  ballot
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after  that  election  has  been  called,  unless  the  Council  directs  this  Office  to  prepare  the  ordinance
for  an  earlier  ballot.

 
DISCUSSION

 

Citizens’  initiative  ballot  measures  are  governed  by  the  California  Constitution,  the
Charter,  and  the  Municipal  Code,  the  latter  of which  constitutes  the  City’s  Election  Code
Ordinance.  These  laws  govern  when  a  citizens’  initiative  measure  qualifies  for  submission  to  the
City’s  voters.1  

 
Prior  to  the  Charter  amendments  enacted  through  Measure  L,  the  Charter  required  the

Council  to  place  a  qualified  citizens’  initiative  on  the  next  regularly  scheduled  Citywide  ballot  on
which  the  measure  legally  could  be  placed.  The  “next”  election  could  be  a  primary  or  a  general

election.  The  Council  also  had  the  ability  to  call  a  special,  standalone  election  –  before  the  next
regularly  scheduled  election  –  if it  wished  to  submit  a  measure  to  voters  earlier.

 
Measure  L  amended  the  Charter  to  state,  in  relevant  part:
 

Initiative  measures  and  referendum  measures  that  qualify  for  the
ballot  after  the  people’s  petition  process,  and  in  compliance  with
provisions  of this  Charter  and  the  City’s  Election  Code  Ordinance,

shall  be  submitted  to  the  electorate  at  a  Municipal  Special  Election
consolidated  with  the  next  City-wide  Municipal  General  Election

ballot  on  which  the  measures  legally  can  be  placed,  or  at  a  City-

wide  Municipal  Special  Election  held  prior  to  that  general

election.
 

Charter  §  23  (emphasis  added);  see  also,  SDMC  §  27.1037.
 

Thus,  if a  measure  is  qualified,  the  Council  must  submit  it  to  voters  on  a  ballot  heard  at
the  next  general  (November)  election  unless  the  Council  chooses  to  submit  it  to  the  voters  at  the
same  time  as  an  earlier  primary  election,  or  on  a  special,  stand-alone  ballot.

 

                                                
1  This  memorandum  does  not  address  when  a  qualified  citizens’  initiative  measure  alternatively  may  be  adopted

outright  by  the  Council.  Once  a  petition  has  qualified  with  valid  signatures  of 10  percent  of the  City’s  voters  as  of

the  last  Municipal  General  Election,  the  Municipal  Code  directs  the  Council  to  either:  (1)  adopt  the  measure

outright,  without  amendment;  or  (2)  submit  the  measure  to  voters.  See  SDMC  §§  27.1034  and  27.1035.  The  pending
“For  A  Better  San  Diego”  initiative  petition,  which  includes  a  proposal  to  increase  the  City’s  Transient  Occupancy

Tax,  must  be  submitted  to  the  voters.  The  Council  has  no  legal  authority  under  the  California  Constitution  to

approve  a  tax.
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The  Charter  does  not  require  the  Council  to  consider  an  earlier  election.  The  decision  is
solely  within  the  Council’s  discretion.2  

 
The  Charter  does  not  set  forth  prerequisites  that  would  limit  which  initiative  or

referendum  measures  could  be  considered  for  an  earlier  election.  For  example,  a  ballot  measure
is  not  required  to  be  characterized  as  an  “emergency  measure”  in  order  to  be  submitted  to  voters

earlier  than  the  next  general  election.  
 
The  timing  of an  election,  however,  must  comply  with  state  and  local  laws  regarding

when  elections  cannot  be  held  –  for  example,  an  election  cannot  be  held  the  day  before,  the  day
of,  or  the  day  after,  a  state  holiday.  Cal.  Elec.  Code  §  1100.  Additionally,  there  may  be  other
laws  that  affect  the  timing  of voters’  consideration  of a  given  ballot  measure;  each  measure  must
be  considered  individually,  based  upon  its  specific  content.  For  example,  Charter  amendments
are  governed  by  state  law,  and  amendments  regarding  certain  subjects  must  appear  on  November
general  election  ballots.  

 
The  Charter  empowers  the  Council  to  call  all  elections.  Its  decision  is  not  subject  to  veto.
 
We  note  that  this  Office  previously  addressed  related  issues  in  City Att’y  MOL

No.  2017-7  (Sept.  14,  2017),  a  copy  of which  is  attached  to  this  memorandum.
 

CONCLUSION

 

If the  Council  chooses  to  submit  a  qualified  initiative  or  referendum  measure  to  the
voters,  the  Council  must  place  the  measure  on  the  next  regularly  scheduled  general  election
ballot  (held  in  November  of even-numbered  years),  unless  it  chooses  to  send  it  to  an  earlier
ballot.

 
When  the  Council  considers  a  qualified  citizens’  initiative  that  includes  a  proposed  tax

increase,  the  Council  is  required  initially  to  approve  a  resolution  of intention  to  place  the
initiative  on  a  ballot.  (See  San  Diego  Resolution  R-311981  (Oct.  8,  2018)  for  the  “For  A  Better

San  Diego”  initiative  measure,  attached  to  this  memorandum.)  Our  Office  will  return  with  an
ordinance  to  place  the  “For  A  Better  San  Diego”  initiative  measure  on  the  November  2020  ballot
 

                                                
2  We  note  that  our  Office  has  often  been  asked  about  the  two  meanings  of “special  election,”  which  can  cause

confusion.  The  term  “Municipal  Special  Election”  refers  to  the  name  of the  elections  for  all  City  ballot  measures.

The  terms  “Municipal  Primary  Election”  and  “Municipal  General  Election”  refer  to  elections  for  candidate  races
only.  Generally,  ballot  measure  and  candidate  elections  are  consolidated  so  they  can  appear  on  the  same  ballot.  An

“off-cycle”  election  –  one  not  held  at  a  regularly  scheduled  time  –  is  also  referred  to  as  a  “special  election.”  
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after  that  election  has  been  called,  unless  the  Council  directs  this  Office  to  prepare  the  ordinance
for  an  earlier  ballot.

 
 MARA  W.  ELLIOTT,  CITY  ATTORNEY

By /s/ Sharon  B.  Spivak

Sharon  B.  Spivak
Senior  Deputy  City  Attorney
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       Elizabeth  Maland,  City Clerk
       Andrea  Tevlin,  Independent  Budget  Analyst  






















